
THURSDAY, JULY 18, 2024

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
MEETING



                                                                                            
                                                                                   

   
  
 

STADIUM AUTHORITY BOARD: 
 

Steve Hill, Chair 
  Ike Lawrence Epstein, Vice Chair 
  Jan Jones Blackhurst, Secretary 
  Rose McKinney-James 
  Mike Newcomb  
  J. Tito Tiberti 
  Diana Valles 
       

      Lawrence Weekly 
      Tommy White 
      Bob Yosaitis 
      Steve Zanella 
      Zach Conine, nonvoting, ex-officio Board Member                               
      Ken Diaz, nonvoting, ex-officio Board Member                 

THIS PUBLIC MEETING IS PROPERLY NOTICED AND POSTED AT THE FOLLOWING LOCATIONS: 
 

Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (LVCVA) – 2nd Floor Administration Offices, South Hall 
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109 

 

   Stadium Authority Website: http://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/  
Nevada Public Notice Website: https://notice.nv.gov/ 

 
 

 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (BOARD) MAY:  
CONSIDER AGENDA ITEMS OUT OF ORDER; 

COMBINE TWO OR MORE AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION; AND 
REMOVE OR DELAY DISCUSSION ON ANY AGENDA ITEM AT ANY TIME. 

 

AGENDA 
 
OPENING CEREMONIES 

 
 

Call to Order 
 

 Roll Call 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 
  
The first public comment period is limited to comments on items on the agenda. Items raised under this portion of the 
agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been met.  
If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell your first 
and last name for the record. COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH. 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
 

 Approval of the Agenda. 
For possible action. 
 

 Approval of the Minutes: 

• May 16, 2024 Regular Meeting of the Board 

• May 23, 2024 Public Hearing on the Budget 
For possible action. 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING AND AGENDA 
 

LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY BOARD 
THURSDAY, JULY 18, 2024 

3:00 P.M. 
 

Las Vegas Convention Center – Board Room 
3150 Paradise Road 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

 
 

https://notice.nv.gov/


 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Board of Directors Meeting 
July 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 3 
 

COMMENTS BY CHAIR, BOARD MEMBERS, AND STAFF 
 
The Chair, Board Members, and staff will provide comments or updates. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS 
 

 1. Approval of Stadium Authority Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2025-2029 
That the Board consider: 1) Approving the fiscal year (FY) 2025 – 2029 Capital Improvement Program 
(CIP), and 2) Authorizing the Stadium Authority Administrator to submit the CIP to the Clark County Debt 
Management Commission and to the State of Nevada Department of Taxation. 
 
For possible action. 
 

 2. Selection of Baseball Stadium Events Company – Athletics StadCo LLC 
That the Board considers selecting Athletics StadCo LLC as the Baseball Stadium Events Company for 
the Major League Baseball Stadium. 
 
For possible action. 
 

 3. Board Findings - Baseball Stadium Developer Partner  
That the Board considers finding that the proposed Baseball Stadium developer partner, Athletics StadCo 
LLC, has, in accordance with Section 22 of Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada 
Legislature (SB1): 1) Disclosed to the Board, as a matter of public record, the identity of the person who 
will act as the developer partner; and 2) Provided documentation satisfactory to the Board to indicate that 
it has an affiliation with the Major League Baseball team. 
 
For possible action. 
 

 4. Draft Non-Relocation Agreement with the Athletics Investment Group LLC 
Stadium Authority staff and attorneys will present the current draft of the proposed non-relocation 
agreement between the Clark County Stadium Authority and Athletics Investment Group LLC (TeamCo). 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

 5. Draft Development Agreement with Athletics StadCo LLC  
Stadium Authority staff and attorneys will present the current draft of the proposed development 
agreement between the Clark County Stadium Authority and Athletics StadCo LLC (StadCo). 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC  
 

This public comment period is for any matter that is within the jurisdiction of the Board. Items raised under this portion of 
the agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been 
met.  If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell 
your first and last name for the record.  COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Board of Directors Meeting 
July 18, 2024 

Page 3 of 3 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 

Persons are invited to submit written remarks for all matters, both on and off the agenda.  Written remarks presented for inclusion in the 
Board’s minutes must be flat, unfolded, on paper of standard quality, and 8½ by 11 inches in size.  Written remarks shall not exceed five 
(5) pages in length.  The LVSA will not accept for filing any submission that does not comply with this rule.  On a case-by-case basis, 
the Board may permit the filing of noncomplying [sic] written remarks, documents, and related exhibits pursuant to NRS 241.035(1)(e).   
 
To submit ideas to the LVSA, please visit http://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/ 
 

The Board’s meeting rooms are accessible to persons with disabilities.  If special arrangements are required, please contact the 
Customer Safety Department at: 702-892-7400, which is a 24-hour Dispatch Control Center, or contact Silvia Perez in the Board Office 
at: 702-892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com  
 

Members of the Board may participate in this meeting via telephone conference call.   

For information or questions regarding this agenda please contact: 
Silvia Perez, Executive Assistant to the Board  
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109  
702-892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com 

Supporting materials for this meeting are available at 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109 or by contacting Silvia Perez at 702-
892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com 

 

http://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com


MINUTES 

Stadium Authority Board Meeting 
  May 16, 2024 



 
   

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Las Vegas Stadium Authority (LVSA) Board Meeting was held on May 16, 2024, at the Las Vegas 
Convention Center, 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109. This meeting was properly noticed and 
posted in compliance with the Nevada Open Meeting Law. 
 

 

Board of Directors (Board) 
Present unless otherwise noted 

 

  Steve Hill, Chair 
  Lawrence Epstein, Vice Chair……….……virtual 
  Jan Jones Blackhurst 
  Rose McKinney-James 
  Mike Newcomb 
  J. Tito Tiberti 
  Diana Valles.……………...…………….……virtual 
 

  Lawrence Weekly 
    Tommy White…………………………..……absent 
  Bob Yosaitis                              
  Steve Zanella…………………………..……absent 
  Zach Conine, ex-officio 
  Ken Diaz, ex-officio…………………….……virtual 

OPENING CEREMONIES 
 

Chair Steve Hill called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m.     
 
Caroline Bateman, Board Counsel, acknowledged that all members of the Stadium Authority Board were 
present either in person or virtually, except for Members Diana Valles, Tommy White, and Steve Zanella. 
 
Member Valles joined the meeting virtually at 3:03 p.m.  
 
COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Alexander Marks, representative for Schools Over Stadiums, provided an update on the organization of a 
referendum related to the construction of a Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium in Las Vegas and shared data 
on Nevada education.  Mr. Marks provided an update on activities since the previous Stadium Authority Board 
meeting including a poll regarding the support and opposition of Las Vegas residents on publicly financing a 
stadium, an announcement of the A’s temporary move to Sacramento, concerns regarding the A’s owner’s 
commitment to the Las Vegas, and intervention attempts by the A’s in the School’s Over Stadiums’ legal challenge 
of Senate Bill 1 (SB1).  Mr. Marks commented on the increasing risk of the proposed MLB stadium project and 
emphasized the importance of utilizing public funds in public services including education. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board Meeting 
May 16, 2024 

Minutes 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 2 of 7 
 

Chris Daly with the Nevada State Education Association outlined SB1 requirements related to the Board’s findings 
on the relocation of the A’s, noted that the MLB has failed to authorize such relocation, and discouraged the Board 
from voting on Agenda Item 1 until the MLB authorizes the A’s move to unincorporated Clark County.  Mr. Daly 
commented on the poll referenced by Mr. Marks, noting that 52% of Las Vegas voters oppose the use of public 
funds for the proposed MLB stadium while 32% were in support. He shared a quote from Las Vegas Mayor Carolyn 
Goodman encouraging the A’s to remain in Oakland.  Mr. Daly referenced Agenda Item 2 and commented on the 
“paper thin” commitment of relocation by the A’s owner and commented on the Community Benefits Agreement 
(CBA) and Non-Relocation Agreement being “pointless” without secured financing.  Mr. Daly commented on the 
A’s recent initiation of structuring a comprehensive financial plan for the proposed MLB stadium and on the 
implications on stadium design, traffic patterns, and projected tax revenue from the lack of urgency of the project. 
He noted that the items on today’s agenda are insignificant until financing has been secured and encouraged the 
sale of the A’s team.  
  
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
 
 

COMMENTS BY CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS 
 
Chair Hill welcomed new member Rose McKinney-James to the Stadium Authority Board. He informed the 
Board that the June Stadium Authority Board meeting would be canceled, with the July Board meeting being 
held as scheduled, and the August meeting likely being canceled. Mr. Hill noted that the every-other-month 
cadence is working well for the time being.  
 
Chair Hill thanked Stadium Authority Administrator Ed Finger and Ms. Bateman for their efforts on Stadium 
Authority matters, thanked the A’s for their partnership and professionalism, and thanked the legal teams 
involved for their work.  
 
Chair Hill congratulated the Las Vegas Raiders on the recent draft and on the recent release of their season 
schedule. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 
STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS 
 
1.  Board Finding - Major League Baseball Has Authorized the Relocation of the Oakland 

A’s to Las Vegas 
Mr. Finger discussed the [Nevada] state law requirements to reach certain findings prior to 
approving the lease, non-relocation, and development agreements (Stadium Agreements) 
related to a Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium. Mr. Finger commented on the unanimous 
approval by MLB owners for the relocation of the A’s, referenced a letter outlining that 
approval (attached to Agenda Item 1 as supporting materials), and explained the letter’s 
adequacy for the Board to reach a finding. 
 
Mr. Finger requested that the Board considers finding that Major League Baseball has 
authorized the Oakland A’s MLB team to locate or relocate within the sports and 
entertainment district (SEID) as created by Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the 
Nevada Legislature (SB1). 
 

APPROVAL OF 
THE AGENDA 
AND MINUTES  
 

Member Lawrence Weekly moved, seconded by Member Jan Jones Blackhurst, and it 
was carried by unanimous vote of the voting members with the exception of Member 
McKinney-James who abstained, to approve the May 16, 2024 Regular Meeting of the 
Board of Directors agenda and to approve the minutes of the March 21, 2024, Regular 
Meeting of the Board. 
 
Member McKinney-James acknowledged that she abstained from the vote due to not having 
been at the March 21, 2024 Board meeting. 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 3 of 7 
 

Member Jan Jones Blackhurst moved, seconded by Member Lawrence Weekly, and it 
was carried by unanimous vote of the voting members, to find that Major League 
Baseball has authorized the Oakland A’s MLB team to locate or relocate within the 
sports and entertainment district (SEID) as created by Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special 
Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1). 

 

 
    2. Board Finding - Oakland A’s Have Committed to Relocation in Las Vegas 

Mr. Finger reiterated that the A’s commitment to relocation to Las Vegas is one of the 
prerequisite conditions prior to the Board’s approval of the Stadium Agreements. Mr. Finger 
stated that a letter from the A’s President certifying that the A’s have committed to relocating 
to Las Vegas was attached to Agenda Item 2, and attested that the A’s are diligently working 
toward the completion of the Stadium Agreements. Mr. Finger requested that the Board 
considers finding that the Oakland A’s Major League Baseball (MLB) team has committed to 
locate or relocate within the sports and entertainment district (SEID) as required by Section 
22 of Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1). 
 
Member Jones Blackhurst moved, seconded by Member Weekly, and it was carried by 
unanimous vote of the voting members, to find that the Oakland A’s MLB team has 
committed to locate or relocate within the sports and entertainment district (SEID) as 
required by Section 22 of Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada 
Legislature (SB1). 
 

   3. Draft Non-Relocation Agreement with A’s Baseball Stadium Events Company 
Mr. Finger explained that the presentation of the Non-Relocation agreement was an 
information only item. He introduced Mark Arnold, Partner at Hunton Andrews Kurth, LLP for 
presentation of the draft Non-Relocation Agreement.  
 
Mr. Arnold presented the current draft of the proposed non-relocation agreement between the 
Clark County Stadium Authority and the to-be-formed A’s stadium event company (StadCo). 
He stated that its term was for 30 years and required the A’s to play their home games at the 
proposed MLB stadium, noting exceptions related to MLB rules and regulations. 
 
Mr. Arnold commented on provisions included in the proposed non-relocation agreement 
including allowing the MLB to cause the A's to play certain home games in another location 
as part of a “bubble concept”. He outlined an exception to the A’s requirement to play most 
home games in the proposed stadium as related to force majeure acts, requiring the A’s to 
use commercially reasonable efforts to provide an alternative site within the SEID for the 
shortest amount of time possible. 
 
Mr. Arnold discussed a provision that is being added by the MLB to all of its non-relocation 
agreements allowing flexibility in the locations of post-season games, where playoff games 
can be played at a location that is not home to either of the teams playing. Mr. Arnold 
confirmed that the draft non-relocation agreement has been reviewed and negotiated by MLB 
regarding its desired provisions and that MLB has agreed that any of the efforts used to 
impose rules on the A’s would be done in a consistent manner without discrimination against 
the A's or against Las Vegas. He commented that the MLB is in the process of standardizing 
all of its non-relocation agreements. 
 
Mr. Arnold discussed a covenant contained in the non-relocation agreement prohibiting the 
A’s from entering negotiations regarding any transaction that would result in the team’s 
relocation, except during the last seven years of the lease term. He detailed the enforcement 
actions related to this covenant including default provision, injunction(s), liquidated damages, 
and repayment of outstanding bonds and transferable tax credits. 
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 4 of 7 
 

Mr. Arnold reiterated that the proposed non-relocation agreement is subject to MLB rules and 
regulations and that the MLB has agreed that the rules and regulations would be applied in a 
nondiscriminatory manner where no rules and regulations can be applied that would affect 
the Stadium Authority’s right to receive liquidated damages to pay back the public debt issued 
or the tax credits for the proposed stadium. 
 
Mr. Arnold discussed a provision of the proposed non-relocation agreement related to 
targeted tax. He provided that the A’s would not be obligated to continue to play in the 
proposed stadium if they are targeted by a tax that is not a tax of general application. 
 
Mr. Arnold noted that the draft non-relocation agreement contains standard representations 
and warranties typical to these types of documents for enforceability. 
 
Mr. Finger described the collective efforts involved in bringing forth the draft non-relocation 
agreement. He commented on the A’s commitment to remain at the stadium for 30 years, 
subsequent remedies should that not take place, including the repayment of public financing, 
and the fairness of the proposed non-relocation agreement. 
 
Chair Hill provided that the Stadium Authority’s general practice includes the presentation of 
major documents to the Board for review and discussion prior to bringing them forward for a 
vote at a subsequent meeting. He noted that major documents should not be voted on in the 
same meeting where initially presented, allowing the Board and public the opportunity to 
review those documents.  
 
Mr. Hill invited the Board and public to contact Mr. Finger or Ms. Bateman with any input or 
opinions they may have on the draft non-relocation agreement and shared his thoughts that 
aside from immaterial open items, the draft non-relocation is at a place where action could be 
taken at the Board’s next meeting. He noted that the presentation process would occur once 
again, should there be significant input or major changes to the draft non-relocation 
agreement, but explained that he does not anticipate that being the case.  
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

  4. Stadium Activity Report First Quarter 2024 
Adam Feldman, Vice President of Ticket and Sales Operations for the Las Vegas Raiders, 
provided a stadium activity report for Allegiant Stadium, for the first quarter of calendar year 
2024, including the conclusion of the Las Vegas Raiders’ football season, a national rugby 
event, a Twice concert, and hosting the National Football League’s (NFL) Super Bowl LVIII 
event. Mr. Feldman noted that the decrease in events held at Allegiant Stadium was due to 
the restricted use of the stadium in preparation for the Super Bowl. 
 
Chair Hill congratulated Mr. Feldman on the success of the NFL Super Bowl and rugby 
events. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 

 
5.  Football Stadium Community Oversight Committee Report 

Stadium Community Oversight Committee (Committee) Chair Dr. Lawrence Weekly provided 
the report to the Board regarding the Committee’s April 9, 2024 meeting. He outlined the 
requirements of the Las Vegas Raiders’ Community Benefits Agreement (CBA) as related to 
small business and workforce diversity and charitable and civic endeavors. Dr. Weekly noted 
that the CBA requires the Las Vegas Raiders to provide the Committee with a report on its 
compliance with the CBA.  
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 5 of 7 
 

Dr. Weekly shared the positive public comments received at the beginning of the Committee 
meeting regarding the impact of the Las Vegas Raiders, from several members of the 
community including Pastors Kyle and Kelcey West; Andy Bischel, President/CEO of the 
Boys & Girls Clubs of Southern Nevada; and Norma Intriago, member of the Latinas in Power 
and Dress for Success organizations. 
 
Dr. Weekly provided information on the presentation delivered by Piper Overstreet-White, 
Vice President of Community and Government Relations for the Las Vegas Raiders, including 
an overview of the Las Vegas Raiders’ and its stadium partners’ efforts regarding small 
business outreach, community engagement, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) efforts, 
ticket donations, community events, local nonprofit support, and NFL and Raiders initiatives. 
 
Dr. Weekly highlighted that the Las Vegas Raiders has provided more than $3 million in grants 
to more than 100 nonprofit organizations in 2023 and has an executive team comprised of 
45% women and 36% Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC), and 45% and 49% 
respectively in its business operations.  He stated that the Las Vegas Raiders’ stadium 
operator’s workforce is over 75% diverse. He shared that 72% of hours worked over the past 
six months at its stadium concessionaire Levy are by persons identifying as a minority, and  
that 50% of Levy's concessionaires in Allegiant Stadium are women and minority owned 
businesses. He provided information on the number of career fairs and hospitality mixers held 
by the Las Vegas Raiders in the past six months, as well as the number of interviews 
conducted and number of new hires. 
 
Dr. Weekly commented on Ms. Overstreet-White’s presentation of the Las Vegas Raiders’ 
partnership with the Boys & Girls Flag Football and football youth and high school programs. 
 
Dr. Weekly highlighted information provided by Brandon Chambers, Senior Director of 
Community Impact with ASM Global including that ASM Global consistently exceeded 55% 
workplace diversity and that its leadership team is comprised of 65% women and people of 
color. He commented on Ms. Chambers’ reporting of minority supplier development efforts 
and diverse supplier registration as well as efforts with Three Square, Candlelighters 
Childhood Cancer Foundation, and Catholic Charities of Southern Nevada. 
 
Dr. Weekly highlighted Allegiant Stadium Chief Engineer Joseph Wright’s report on Allegiant 
Stadium’s sustainability efforts including being the first stadium powered by 100% renewable 
energy. 
 
Dr. Weekly recalled a question he asked during the SCOC meeting related to the shortage of 
sports coaches and officials in the Las Vegas community and provided that Myles Hayes, 
Director of Football Development for the Las Vegas Raiders, informed the Committee about 
efforts to create an official academy and efforts to reduce the costs associated with becoming 
a youth official. 
 
Dr. Weekly noted that the final public comment portion of the SCOC meeting was similar to 
the first public comment portion in terms of support and appreciation for the community 
outreach efforts of the Las Vegas Raiders. He provided information on public comments 
including the following: Quentin Savwoir’s comments on the Las Vegas Raiders’ partnership 
with the NAACP; Leslie Valdez of Abuelas Tacos comments about the growth of her small 
business due to the opportunity to open two locations within Allegiant Stadium; Robert 
Strawder’s comments about the positive community impact from the Las Vegas Raiders’ 
assistance with the Donna Street Community Center; and Davante Manor with the City of Las 
Vegas Parks and Recreation Department comments regarding the positive impact from the 
Las Vegas Raiders’ partnership with the Doolittle Community Center Flag Football and the 
partnership between the Las Vegas Raiders and City of Las Vegas on a wheelchair football 
program at the Dula Community Center. 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 6 of 7 
 

Dr. Weekly commended the Las Vegas Raiders for exceeding the requirements of the CBA 
and for its involvement in the Las Vegas community. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

6. Las Vegas Stadium Authority Revenue Report 
Mr. Finger provided that the Stadium Authority is supported by a .88% room tax in the primary 
gaming corridor and a .5% room tax in the rest of the stadium district. He provided a report 
on year-to-date stadium district room tax revenues including prior year versus current year 
monthly room tax revenue, highlighted the economic impact of the NFL Super Bowl LVIII 
event in February, and noted that revenues are nearly 13% over budget year-to-date. 
 
Chair Hill commented on the revenue increase in February 2024 over February 2023. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

 7. Fiscal Year 2025 Preliminary Budget 
Chair Hill commented on the requirements of Nevada State Law as related to the timing of an 
entity’s Public Hearing on the Budget (PHOB) and noted that today’s meeting was just outside 
those parameters. He provided that any of the Board’s questions on the budget would be 
answered at today’s meeting, eliminating the need for in-person attendance at the PHOB. 
 
Chair Hill informed the Board he would be recommending Member Jones Blackhurst as the 
Board’s Secretary for approval during the upcoming PHOB. 
 
Mr. Finger commented on the Board’s limited discretion as related to its budget, as the use 
of room tax funds is dictated by Nevada State Law. He detailed the “waterfall order” of room 
tax expenditures including bond payments, LVSA operating and administrative costs, debt 
reserve, contributions to University of Nevada Las Vegas (UNLV), Capital, debt retirement, 
and infrastructure.  
 
Mr. Finger provided the FY 2025 budget summary as compared to the FY 2024 budget 
including room tax, interest earnings, debt service payments, Stadium Authority operation 
costs, debt service reserve fund, UNLV contributions, prior waterfall residual funds, prior 
years estimated excess funds, FY 2025 interest earnings in other funds, and required 
allocation to Stadium Authority capital projects fund. 
 
Mr. Finger detailed the 2025 budgeted reserves including projected ending 2024 fund balance 
and net interest earnings, and projected 2025 debt service reserve. He provided detail on the 
amounts of the Stadium Authority Capital Fund including projected ending 2024 fund balance, 
required capital transfer, estimated interest earnings, projected minimum ending 2025 fund 
balance, and remaining funds. 
 
Chair Hill explained the single purpose of the $95 million in debt service reserve is to serve 
through the expanse of the debt and noted that the 30-year bond will likely be paid off early 
with no other potential use for those funds. He outlined the Stadium Authority’s original 
contemplated use of the bottom of the waterfall funds to ensure that Allegiant Stadium 
remains a world-class stadium.  
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 
 
 
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

May 16, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 7 of 7 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC  
 
Jeremy Koo noted that the recordings of recent Board meetings were not available on the Board’s website and 
urged the Board to make its meeting recordings available to the public without the need for a public records 
request. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chair Hill adjourned the meeting at 3:48 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted,   Date Approved:    July 18, 2024 
 
 
 
 
  

Silvia Perez 
Executive Assistant to the LVCVA Board 

 Steve Hill 
Chair 

 



MINUTES 

Public Hearing on the Budget
May 23, 2024



 
   

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Las Vegas Stadium Authority (LVSA) Public Hearing on the Budget was held on May 23, 2024, at the Las 
Vegas Convention Center, 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109. This meeting was properly noticed 
and posted in compliance with the Nevada Open Meeting Law. 
 

 

Board of Directors (Board) 
Present virtually unless otherwise noted 

 

  Steve Hill, Chair…………………..………...absent 
  Lawrence Epstein, Vice Chair 
  Jan Jones Blackhurst 
  Rose McKinney-James 
  Mike Newcomb 
  J. Tito Tiberti 
  Diana Valles 
 

  Lawrence Weekly 
    Tommy White 
    Bob Yosaitis…………………………………absent                            
    Steve Zanella……………………………….absent 
  Zach Conine, ex-officio 
  Ken Diaz, ex-officio…………..……….……absent 

OPENING CEREMONIES 
 

Vice Chair Lawrence Epstein called the meeting to order at 2:01 p.m.     
 
Caroline Bateman, Board Counsel, acknowledged that all members of the Stadium Authority Board were 
present except for Members Steve Hill, Bob Yosaitis, Steve Zanella, and Ken Diaz. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 
 

There were no comments from the floor by the public. 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
 

COMMENTS BY CHAIR, BOARD MEMBERS, AND STAFF 
 
There were no comments from the Chair, Board Members, or Staff. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF 
THE AGENDA  
 
 
 

Member Tommy White moved, seconded by Member Jan Jones Blackhurst, and it was 
carried by unanimous vote of the voting members, to approve the May 23, 2024 Public 
Hearing on the Budget agenda. 
 

Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Public Hearing on the Budget 

May 23, 2024 
Minutes 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Public Hearing on the Budget 

May 23, 2024 
Minutes 

 Page 2 of 3 
 

STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS 
 
1.  Election of Board Secretary 

Ms. Bateman outlined the requirements established by Senate Bill 1 (SB1) of the 2016 
Special Session of the Nevada Legislature as related to the role of the Board’s Secretary. 
She noted that County Clerk Lynn Goya recently resigned as Board Secretary and that the 
election of a new Board Secretary was necessary. 
 
Ms. Bateman outlined the Robert’s Rules of Order procedures  that govern the Board’s 
elections. She detailed that Board Members would have the opportunity to make nominations 
once the Chair opens the floor for nominations, and that there would be a deliberation period 
once nominations are closed, followed by a vote. 
 
Vice Chair Epstein opened the floor for nominations. 
 
Member Lawrence Weekly nominated Member Jones Blackhurst as Secretary of the Board. 
 
Member White seconded the nomination. 
 
There were no other nominations by Board Members. 
 
Vice Chair Epstein moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting 
members, to elect Member Jones Blackhurst as the Board Secretary.  

 

 
    2. Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 Tentative Budget and Possible Adoption 

of the FY 2025 Final Budget  
Stadium Authority Administrator Ed Finger outlined the budget adoption process. Mr. Finger 
presented elements of the proposed FY 2025 budget including $62 million in projected room 
tax revenues, $500,000 in interest earnings, and previously accumulated equity. He detailed 
the use of those sources including the following: to make principle and interest payments on 
bonds issued for the contribution to Allegiant Stadium; to pay for the Stadium Authority’s 
administrative operations for the oversight of Allegiant Stadium and for processes to enable 
the building of the A’s Baseball Stadum; to make contributions up to $3.5 million as necessary 
to the University of Nevada Las Vegas (UNLV) for the difference in financial outcomes 
resulting from its transition of UNLV home games from Sam Boyd Stadium to Allegiant 
Stadium; and to fund contributions to the Stadium Authority Capital Account for Board-
approved capital improvements made by the Las Vegas Raiders. 
 
Mr. Finger provided that the Tentative FY 2025 Budget attached to the current agenda is 
unchanged from the Tentative FY 2025 Budget that was submitted to the Nevada State 
Department of Taxation on April 15, 2024 as previously presented to the Board at its May 16, 
2024 meeting. 
 
Mr. Finger stated that the Nevada Department of Taxation examined the FY 2025 Tentative 
Budget and found it to be in compliance with the State’s statutes and regulations. He provided 
that the Public Hearing was publicly noticed in the Las Vegas Review-Journal on May 13, 
2024 and included the places where copies of the Tentative FY 2025 Budget were available 
for public inspection. 
 
Mr. Finger requested that the Board considers, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 
354.596 and 354.598: 1) Conducting a public hearing on the Clark County Stadium Authority’s 
(Authority) FY 2025 Tentative Budget; and 2) Adopting the Authority’s Final Budget for FY 
2025. 
 
Vice Chair Epstein opened the Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget. 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Public Hearing on the Budget 

May 23, 2024 
Minutes 

Page 3 of 3 

There was no discussion of the Budget by any interested person. 

Vice Chair Epstein closed the Public Hearing on the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget. 

Secretary Jones Blackhurst moved, seconded by Member Tommy White, and it was 
carried by unanimous vote of the voting members, to adopt the Stadium Authority’s 
Final Budget for FY 2025. 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 

There were no comments from the floor by the public. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Vice Chair Epstein adjourned the meeting at 2:09 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, Date Approved:   July 18, 2024 

Silvia Perez 
Executive Assistant to the LVCVA Board 

Lawrence Epstein 
Vice Chair 



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: JULY 18, 2024 ITEM NUMBER:  1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
APPROVAL OF STADIUM AUTHORITY CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM FOR FISCAL YEARS 2025-2029 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors consider: 1) Approving the fiscal year (FY) 2025 – 2029 Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP); and 2) Authorizing the Stadium Authority Administrator to 
submit the CIP to the Clark County Debt Management Commission and to the State of 
Nevada Department of Taxation. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 There is no fiscal impact from this agenda item. 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 354.5945, the Stadium Authority must annually 
update and submit a five-year CIP to the Clark County Clerk and Commission and the State 
of Nevada Department of Taxation. The attached FY 2025-2029 Capital Improvement 
Program includes a summary of the capital project totals for the upcoming five fiscal years. 
The FY 2025 CIP amount equals the FY 2025 Board-approved budget. The capital 
projections for fiscal years 2026-2029 are for planning purposes only, and specific capital 
spending for each subsequent budget year will be brought before the Board as part of the 
annual budget process for that fiscal year. 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



  

 
 

Capital Improvement Plan 
Clark County Stadium Authority 

 
Overview 
 
Capital Project Fund (4960): 
 
Section 27.3 of the 2016 Southern Nevada Tourism Improvements Act provided for the 
creation of a Capital Project Fund to account for capital expenditures associated with the 
acquisition, construction, improvement, repair, and equipping of a National Football League 
stadium project (Stadium). 
 
The fund’s initial revenue sources were the proceeds of long-term debt and the sale of 
personal seat licenses. Post-construction, funding sources are residual room taxes and 
interest earnings after debt service, operational, and other required purposes.   These are 
commonly referred to as the waterfall proceeds. 
 
Major Programs and Projects 
 
Las Vegas Stadium Projects ($146,668,320): These projects are for ongoing Stadium repair 
and improvement projects. 
 
Funding Sources: Residual Room Tax and Interest Earnings.  
 
Impact on Operating Budget: SB1 requires the Las Vegas Stadium Events Company 
(StadCo) to pay all Stadium operating costs.  These capital projects have no impact on the 
Stadium Authority’s operating budget. 
 
 
 

 



FY 2025-2029 Capital Improvement Program  

Stadium Authority (Fund 4960)

Prior Estimated
Fiscal Years FY2024 FY2025 FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 Total

Beginning Balances 0 5,920,150 0 0 0 0

Revenue

Interest 5,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 255,000

Transfer In from Fund 2965 5,915,150 60,498,170 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 146,413,320

--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------------
Total Funding Sources 0 5,920,150 60,548,170 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 146,413,320

Total Resources 0 5,920,150 66,468,320 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000

Funded Projects:

Las Vegas Stadium Misc Projects 66,468,320 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 146,668,320

--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------------
Total Costs 0 0 66,468,320 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 20,050,000 146,668,320

Ending Balances 0 5,920,150 0 0 0 0 0



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: JULY 18, 2024 ITEM NUMBER:   2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
SELECTION OF BASEBALL STADIUM EVENTS COMPANY – 
ATHLETICS STADCO LLC  

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers selecting Athletics StadCo LLC as the Baseball 
Stadium Events Company for the Major League Baseball Stadium. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 There is no fiscal impact from this agenda item. 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023.  Section 22 of SB1 allows 
the Stadium Authority to enter into a development agreement, lease agreement, and non-
relocation agreement if the Board of Directors (Board) takes the following actions (Actions): 
 

1. Finds that Major League Baseball (MLB) has authorized the MLB team to locate or 
relocate within the Sports and Entertainment District (SEID);   

2. Finds that the MLB team has committed to locate or relocate within the SEID; 
3. Selects a developer partner who meets the criteria contained in Section 22 of SB1; 

and 
4. Selects a Baseball Stadium Events Company that has disclosed to the Board the 

identity of each of its owners and managers. 
 

 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors’ Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 
Subject:   Selection of Baseball Stadium Events Company – Athletics StadCo LLC 

 

The Board took the first two Actions under Section 22 during its May 16, 2024, meeting.   
 
The Baseball Stadium Events Company is a person (natural person, business, or 
nongovernmental legal entity) whose business is organized under the laws of Nevada for the 
purpose of leasing the MLB stadium project from the Stadium Authority and whose business 
is owned by the MLB team or its affiliate, a developer partner or its affiliate, or the MLB team 
and a development partner or their respective affiliates.   
 
Section 22 of SB1 permits the Board to select a Baseball Stadium Events Company which 
has disclosed to the Board the identity of each of its owners and managers. 
 
The Athletics StadCo LLC is a business organized under the laws of Nevada and registered 
with the State.  It proposes to serve as the Baseball Stadium Events Company for the MLB 
stadium project.   
 
 
 
  
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F





















































  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: JULY 18, 2024 ITEM NUMBER:  3 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: BOARD FINDINGS - BASEBALL STADIUM DEVELOPER PARTNER  

  

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers finding that the proposed Baseball Stadium developer 
partner, Athletics StadCo LLC, has, in accordance with Section 22 of Senate Bill 1 of the 
35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1): 1) Disclosed to the Board, as a matter 
of public record, the identity of the person who will act as the developer partner; and 2) 
Provided documentation satisfactory to the Board to indicate that it has an affiliation with the 
Major League Baseball team. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 There is no fiscal impact from this agenda item. 
 
 

 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023.  Section 22 of SB1 allows 
the Stadium Authority to enter into a development agreement, lease agreement, and non-
relocation agreement if the Board of Directors (Board) takes the following actions (Actions): 
 

1. Finds that Major League Baseball (MLB) has authorized the MLB team to locate or 
relocate within the Sports and Entertainment District (SEID);   

2. Finds that the MLB team has committed to locate or relocate within the SEID; 
3. Selects a developer partner who meets the criteria contained in Section 22 of SB1; 

and 
4. Selects a Baseball Stadium Events Company that has disclosed to the Board the 

identity of each of its owners and managers. 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors’ Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 
Subject:   Board Findings - Baseball Stadium Developer Partner 

 
The Board took the first two Actions under Section 22 during its May 16, 2024, meeting.   
 
The developer partner under Section 22 of SB1 is the person (natural person, business, or 
nongovernmental legal entity) who provides money to pay the costs of the design, 
acquisition, construction, entitlement, financing, and other requirements related to the MLB 
stadium project or the cost of any capital improvements to the MLB stadium project.  The 
Board may select a developer partner, who may be one or more persons who have:  
 

1. Disclosed to the Board, as a matter of public record, the identity of the person or 
persons;  

2. Provided documentation satisfactory to the Board to indicate that the person or 
persons selected to be a developer partner have an affiliation with the MLB;  

3. Demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Board that the developer partner is able to 
successfully develop and construct the MLB stadium project; and  

4. Provided to the Board adequate financial security for the performance of the financial 
obligations of a developer partner for the development and construction of the MLB 
stadium project. 

 
The proposed findings under this agenda item would accomplish the first two steps of the 
third Action related to the selection of the development partner as described Section 22(c)(1) 
and (2) of SB1.  
 
  
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F







EXHIBIT A

Certificate of Athletic Holdings LLC

[See attached]





















































FINDING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
CLARK COUNTY STADIUM AUTHORITY

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 1, known as the Southern Nevada Tourism Innovation Act (the 

“Act”), was approved by the 35th Special Session (2023) of the Nevada Legislature, and signed by 

the Governor on June 15, 2023 (the “Effective Date”);

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the design, entitlement, acquisition, financing, 

construction, lease, sublease, improvement, equipping, management, repair, operation and 

maintenance, promotion, demolition and reconstruction of a Major League Baseball stadium 

project (as defined in Section 11 of the Act) in Clark County, Nevada;

WHEREAS, Section 28 of the Act authorizes the creation of a sports and entertainment 

improvement district for the purpose of assisting in the financing or refinancing of the Major 

League Baseball stadium project following, among other things, the making of certain findings by 

the Stadium Authority;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 22 of the Act, the Stadium Authority shall negotiate and 

may enter into a development agreement and a lease agreement that complies with Sub-sections 

2 and 3 of Section 22 of the Act, if the Board of Directors makes certain determinations as set forth 

in Sub-sections 1(a) to 1(d), inclusive, of Section 22 of the Act within 12 months after the Effective 

Date or, if the Board of Directors determines that an extension of this period is necessary, within 

18 months after the Effective Date;

WHEREAS, in support of the finding required by Subsection 1(c)(2) of Section 22 of the 

Act, namely, that the Developer Partner (as defined in Section 10 of the Act) has provided 

documentation satisfactory to the Board of Directors that the Developer Partner has an affiliation 

with the Major League Baseball Team (as defined in Section 11 of the Act), the Board of Directors 

has been provided with and reviewed Certificate of Athletics Holdings LLC, which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit A and includes the Developer Partner’s organizational documents and charts and 

a description of the Developer Partner’s affiliation with the Major League Baseball Team; and

WHEREAS, based on its review of the documents and other information and matters set 

forth above and supported by the exhibits attached hereto, in the performance of its duties under 

the Act, the Board of Directors is prepared to make the determination required by Subsection 

1(c)(2) of Section 22 of the Act.



NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE STADIUM 

AUTHORITY HEREBY FINDS, DETERMINES AND DECLARES THAT:

The Developer Partner has provided documentation satisfactory to the Board of Directors 

that the Developer Partner has an affiliation with the Major League Baseball Team as required by 

Subsection 1(c)(2) of Section 22 of the Act.

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED this __ day of _____________, 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
CLARK COUNTY STADIUM AUTHORITY 

STEVE HILL, Chairman

ATTEST:

Caroline Bateman, General Counsel
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors 
Authority



EXHIBIT A

Certificate of Athletic Holdings LLC

[See attached]





















































  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: JULY 18, 2024 ITEM NUMBER:  4 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
DRAFT NON-RELOCATION AGREEMENT WITH THE ATHLETICS 
INVESTMENT GROUP LLC 

  

RECOMMENDATION 

Stadium Authority staff and attorneys will present the current draft of the proposed non-
relocation agreement between the Clark County Stadium Authority and Athletics Investment 
Group LLC (TeamCo). 
 

This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 There is no fiscal impact from this agenda item. 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023.  SB1 provides for the 
financing and development of a Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium in Clark County. 
 

Section 22 of SB1 requires the Stadium Authority to negotiate a development agreement, 
lease agreement, and non-relocation agreement concerning the MLB stadium project 
(collectively, the Stadium Agreements).  It further allows the Stadium Authority to enter into 
each of these agreements if the Board of Directors determines that an MLB team has 
committed to locate or relocate within the sports and entertainment improvement district 
(SEID), MLB has authorized the proposed location or relocation, the Stadium Authority has 
selected a developer partner, and the Stadium Authority has selected a stadium events 
company.  Section 22 of SB1 establishes the requirements for each of the Stadium 
Agreements.   

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors’ Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 
Subject:  Draft Non-Relocation Agreement with the Athletics Investment Group LLC 

 

During its May 16, 2024, meeting, the Board approved the findings that the MLB team had 
committed to relocate within the SEID and that MLB had authorized the same.  The remaining 
conditions precedent to the Board’s approval of a non-relocation agreement are in 
progress.  However, in anticipation of meeting those conditions, staff has continued 
negotiating the Stadium Agreements, including the non-relocation agreement. 
 
The draft non-relocation agreement contains the terms of use for the publicly owned stadium 
by the MLB team.  In accordance with Section 22 of SB1, the non-relocation agreement must: 
 
(1) Set forth the requirements and responsibilities of the Baseball Stadium Events Company 

concerning the conditions under which the MLB team may relocate from the SEID; 
 

(2) Be for a term of not less than 30 years; 
 

(3) Provide for damages in the event the MLB team relocates in violation of the agreement 
in an amount not less than: 

 
(a) The amount required for the repayment of the principal and interest then outstanding 

on the bonds issued to finance or refinance the MLB stadium project plus any costs 
resulting from early termination; 
 

(b) An amount equal to the then outstanding tax credits subject to repayment under 
Section 2 of SB1; and 
 

(4) Require the Baseball Stadium Events Company to provide evidence satisfactory to the 
Stadium Authority of the ability to satisfy the terms of the non-relocation agreement if the 
MLB team relocates in violation of the agreement. 

 
The initial draft of the non-relocation agreement was presented at the May 16, 2024, Board 
meeting.  The terms of the draft non-relocation agreement presented in this agenda item 
remain under negotiation.   The draft is presented for Board and public review.   

 
  

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: JULY 18, 2024 ITEM NUMBER:  5 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
DRAFT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH ATHLETICS STADCO 
LLC   

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Stadium Authority staff and attorneys will present the current draft of the proposed 
development agreement between the Clark County Stadium Authority and Athletics StadCo 
LLC (StadCo). 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 There is no fiscal impact from this agenda item. 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023.  SB1 provides for the 
financing and development of a Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium in Clark County. 
 
Section 22 of SB1 requires the Stadium Authority to negotiate a development agreement, 
lease agreement, and non-relocation agreement concerning the MLB stadium project 
(collectively, the Stadium Agreements).  It further allows the Stadium Authority to enter into 
each of these agreements if the Board of Directors determines that an MLB team has 
committed to locate or relocate within the sports and entertainment improvement district 
(SEID), MLB has authorized the proposed location or relocation, the Stadium Authority has 
selected a developer partner, and the Stadium Authority has selected a stadium events 
company.  Section 22 of SB1 establishes the requirements for each of the Stadium 
Agreements.   

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors’ Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 
Subject:  Draft Development Agreement with Athletics StadCo LLC 

 

During its May 16, 2024, meeting, the Board approved the findings that the MLB team had 
committed to relocate within the SEID and that MLB had authorized the same.  The remaining 
conditions precedent to the Board’s approval of a development agreement have not yet been 
met.  However, in anticipation of meeting those conditions, staff has continued negotiating 
the Stadium Agreements, including the development agreement. 
 
The draft development agreement contains the terms of construction and financing for the 
publicly owned stadium by the MLB team.  The MLB team has decided to have the same 
company serve as both the Baseball Stadium Events Company (StadCo) and the developer 
partner (DevCo). In accordance with Section 22 of SB1, the development agreement must: 
 
(1) Require the location, design, fit, and finish of the Major League Baseball stadium project 

to be consistent with first-class, premier Major League Baseball facilities currently in 
operation or approved for construction by Major League Baseball; 
 

(2) Identify the site of the project, the general location of which must be in Clark County at 
the southeast corner of Las Vegas Boulevard and Tropicana Avenue; 

 
(3) Set forth the overall design, scope, and specifications of the project, which must include, 

without limitation, an enclosed baseball stadium with an attendance capacity of 
approximately 30,000 persons; 

 
(4) Set forth the sources of financing to pay the costs of the development and construction 

of the project in a manner consistent with the provisions of sections 18 to 35, inclusive, of 
SB1;  

 
(5) Require the developer partner to provide periodic progress reports to the Board of 

Directors on the status of the development and construction of the project;  
 

(6) Set forth the procedures for the provision of the periodic progress reports described in 
paragraph and the information required to be included in such reports;  

 
(7) State that all development and construction cost overruns for the development and 

construction of the project must be the sole responsibility of the developer partner, except 
that any cost overrun must not be the responsibility of the developer partner if the cost 
overrun is caused by a change in development or construction mandated by the Stadium 
Authority after the execution of the development agreement, other than a change in 
development or construction after the execution of the development agreement that is 
required to comply with a building code, including, without limitation, a change relating to 
building safety;  

 
(8) Contain provisions that are consistent with sections 25 (competitive bidding and 

prevailing wage), 26 (small local business participation), and 33 (maximum public 
financial contribution, order of project funding and project dedication) of SB1;  

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F



 
 Page 3 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors’ Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 
Subject:  Draft Development Agreement with Athletics StadCo LLC 

 

(9) Provide for an adequate contribution by the developer partner for the construction or 
improvement of any infrastructure, including, without limitation, infrastructure relating to 
transportation, parking, pedestrian traffic, public safety, utilities, and safe and efficient 
airport operations, off the site of the project that is determined to be necessary for the 
project by the Department of Transportation or Clark County and that is specified in the 
regional infrastructure and service evaluation required for a high impact project before a 
special use permit is issued for the project; 

 
(10) Require that the developer partner ensure that no action or inaction by the developer 

partner, or any person hired or retained by the developer partner to act on behalf of the 
developer partner, in the development or construction of the project results in a 
mechanic’s lien or judgment lien against the project that is not cured by the developer 
partner within a customary amount of time using commercially reasonable efforts, which 
must be determined in accordance with the laws of this State and must be such time and 
efforts as are approved by the Board; 

 
(11) Take into consideration the use of multimodal facilities that use alternative modes of 

transportation and do not have detrimental impacts on other permitted transportation 
projects; and 
 

(12) Contain other terms deemed necessary and appropriate by the Stadium Authority. 
 

The terms of the draft development agreement presented in this agenda item remain under 
negotiation.   The draft is presented for Board and public review.   

 
  

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 7CEA02AF-55EB-4BEC-887F-261BB9A1307F




